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FAA WAIVER-OF-SANCTIONS DEFENSE—BOETA CLOUDS
THE CLEARING HORIZONS OF INADVERTENT ACTS
CATHERINE PARSLEY*

I

N BOETA V. FEDERAL AVIATION ADMINISTRATION,1 the
Fifth Circuit reversed the outcome of a series of administrative appeals on the applicability of a waiver-of-sanctions defense
to pilot Richard Boeta’s sixty-day suspension originally imposed
by the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA). The FAA found
that Boeta violated two portions of 14 C.F.R. § 91,2 “which prohibit anyone from either filing a flight plan for, or operating a
flight in, [Reduced Vertical Separation Minimum (RVSM)] airspace unless the aircraft’s operator is authorized to do so by the
FAA.”3 The waiver-of-sanctions defense would waive the suspension if Boeta could meet the four requirements of the waiver
laid out by the FAA, one of which is the inadvertence of the
violation.4
The Fifth Circuit panel examined the National Transportation Safety Board’s (NTSB) holding to determine whether its
decision to uphold the Administrative Law Judge’s (ALJ) rejection of Boeta’s defense was arbitrary or capricious.5 If the
NTSB’s decision was arbitrary or capricious, the circuit court is
allowed to overturn it, which the majority did. The dissent concluded that the facts relied on by the NTSB were consistent with
the record and that the record did not show the NTSB’s decision was either arbitrary or capricious.6 Ultimately, while the
court may have wanted to overturn this holding for legitimate,
yet unstated, reasons, the challenges to the NTSB and ALJ’s fac* J.D. Candidate, SMU Dedman School of Law, 2018; B.S., Communications
Studies, University of Texas at Austin, 2012. The author would like to thank all of
her family and friends for their constant cheers and support, especially her partner,
Austin, and her mother for their grammatical acumen.
1 831 F.3d 636 (5th Cir. 2016).
2 14 C.F.R. pt. 91, app. G, § 4(b)(1) (2016); 14 C.F.R. § 91.180(a)(1) (2016).
3 Boeta, 831 F.3d at 641 (emphasis in original).
4 FED. AVIATION ADMIN., ADVISORY CIRCULAR NO. 00-46E, AVIATION SAFETY REPORTING PROGRAM (2011).
5 Boeta, 831 F.3d at 641.
6 Id. at 651 (Higginson, J., dissenting).
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tual findings relied upon by the majority fail to satisfy the deferential standard of review and ultimately cloud the defense.
Richard Boeta’s air transport pilot license was suspended by
the FAA following a flight that allegedly violated two sections of
the Special Federal Aviation Regulations.7 He was an employee
of Capital Aerospace, LLC (Capital) and often piloted a plane
leased to Capital by the plane’s owner.8 Prior to Boeta’s violation, the owner entered into separate lease agreements with
both Capital and USAC Airways (USAC), a company that provided Capital use of its FAA authorizations for commercial and
RVSM flight.9 Under this configuration, USAC acted as the
plane’s operator, and Boeta was pilot-in-chief for commercial
flights in RVSM airspace under USAC’s authorization.10 After
some time of this arrangement, USAC gave oral notice to Capital that it was terminating their agreement and would no longer
operate the plane, but USAC did not notify the plane’s owner or
Boeta of any changes (although the court noted that USAC
likely intended to end the lease with the owner as well).11 USAC
stopped providing Boeta with flight dispatch sheets and removed the plane from its RVSM authorization.12 Capital reassumed both operation of the plane and the duty of sending trip
sheets to Boeta and at no time had authorization to fly the plane
either in RVSM airspace or for commercial purposes.13
On the date of the relevant flight, Boeta received one of Capital’s trip sheets instructing him to take the plane from Sugar
Land, Texas to Palm Beach, Florida.14 Before taking off, Boeta
filed a flight plan to inform the FAA that the operator was authorized to fly in RVSM airspace and that the flight would be
conducted under that authorization, among other things.15
When Boeta landed in Palm Beach, FAA inspectors met him and
asked to see the operator’s authorization.16 Boeta looked for the
authorization papers, but they were not onboard the plane, so
7 Id. at 641 (majority opinion) (citing 14 C.F.R. pt. 91, app. G, § 4(b)(1)
(2016); 14 C.F.R. § 91.180(a)(1) (2016)).
8 Id. at 638–39.
9 Id.
10 Id. at 639.
11 Id. at 640.
12 Id.
13 Id.
14 Id.
15 Id.
16 Id.
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he requested a faxed copy from Capital.17 Capital sent USAC’s
outdated authorization form that still listed the plane as authorized to fly in RVSM airspace.18 The inspectors, however, had
procured an updated copy of USAC’s authorization from the
FAA database, which meant that they were aware that the plane
was no longer listed.19 Had the inspectors not obtained a new
copy, they would have held Capital’s copy to be valid and would
not have found a violation.20 Within ten days of the incident,
Boeta filed an Aviation Safety Report (ASR) through the FAA’s
reporting program, which formed the basis of his waiver-of-sanctions defense.21
The FAA suspended Boeta’s air transport pilot license for
sixty days, stating that he, as pilot-in-chief, had wrongfully filed a
flight plan with the FAA and proceeded to fly in RVSM airspace
without a properly authorized operator.22 Boeta appealed the
FAA’s sanction to an ALJ, who upheld the order.23 Boeta then
appealed the ALJ’s decision to the NTSB, which upheld the
ALJ’s order.24 The Fifth Circuit panel heard Boeta’s appeal of
the NTSB decision on three issues.25
Boeta’s three issues were that the NTSB erred in finding that
the ALJ “(1) properly limited Boeta’s cross-examination of several witnesses, (2) properly rejected Boeta’s defense of reasonable reliance, and (3) properly rejected Boeta’s request for a
waiver of sanctions under the FAA’s ASR procedure.”26 The
Fifth Circuit panel majority upheld the NTSB’s decision on the
first and second issues but reversed on the third issue, stating
that “the NTSB’s decision affirming the ALJ’s rejection of
Boeta’s waiver-of-sanctions defense under the ASR procedure
was arbitrary and capricious as a matter of law.”27
The critical issue is whether the court correctly reversed the
denial of Boeta’s waiver-of-sanctions defense in light of the
“highly deferential” standard of review.28 A court must uphold a
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

Id.
Id.
Id.
Id.
Id.
Id.
Id.
Id.
Id.
Id.
Id.
Id.

at 640–41.
at 641.

at 647.
at 642.
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decision made by the NTSB unless it is “unsupported by substantial evidence” or is found to be “arbitrary, capricious, an abuse
of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with the law.”29
Credibility determinations made by an ALJ are “non-reviewable
unless there is uncontrovertible documentary evidence or physical fact [that] contradicts it.”30 The ALJ heard trial testimony
from both Boeta and the FAA inspectors and found the inspectors to be more credible.31
The Fifth Circuit majority found that Boeta was entitled to the
waiver-of-sanctions defense because he met the four requirements listed under the ASR program. The program allows a pilot to avoid penalties for a violation if:
(1) the violation was “inadvertent and not deliberate,” (2) the
violation did not involve a criminal offense, an accident, or action showing a lack of qualification or competency, (3) the pilot
has not committed a similar violation within the previous five
years, and (4) the pilot can prove that he filed the ASR within ten
days of the violation.32

The parties did not dispute anything other than whether Boeta’s
conduct was inadvertent.33 A violation must be both “not deliberate” and “inadvertent” to satisfy the first element of the defense.34 There is no technical definition of “inadvertent,” and
after reviewing precedent, the majority stated “that whether an
act—or, as here, an omission or failure to act—is ‘inadvertent’
depends on the exact nature of the act or omission in question
and the discrete facts and details of the situation.”35
In determining that Boeta was not inadvertent, the ALJ
found, and the NTSB affirmed, that Boeta failed to satisfy two
pre-flight duties placed on him as pilot-in-chief, namely to: (1)
review a plane’s authorizations, and (2) ensure that the
paperwork was physically inside the aircraft.36 The Fifth Circuit
majority held, however, that these duties did not exist in the
airline regulations and that the ALJ incorrectly relied on the
5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A), (E) (2016).
Miranda v. Nat’l Transp. Safety Bd., 866 F.2d 805, 807 (5th Cir. 1989).
31 Boeta, 831 F.3d at 648 (Higginson, J., dissenting).
32 Id. at 642 (majority opinion) (quoting FED. AVIATION ADMIN., ADVISORY CIRCULAR NO. 00-46E, AVIATION SAFETY REPORTING PROGRAM (2011)).
33 Id.
34 Ferguson v. Nat’l Transp. Safety Bd., 678 F.2d 821, 823 (9th Cir. 1982).
35 Boeta, 831 F.3d at 643.
36 Id.
29
30
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FAA inspector’s personal knowledge to find them.37 It stated
that the regulations put the onus on the operator to keep its
employees informed of changes to its operational authorization
rather than on the pilot to check for changes.38 Because USAC
never advised Boeta of the change in relationships, he was still
USAC’s agent. Therefore, USAC failed to meet its ongoing obligation to keep Boeta informed of any changes that affected his
responsibilities.39 The majority acknowledged that although
Boeta could have, and perhaps should have, realized a change
because of the new trip sheets, he “was largely ignorant of the
shifts in these entities’ respective relationships.”40 The majority
then analogized Boeta’s case to Garvey v. Meacham, another
NTSB case in which a plane ran out of fuel before reaching its
destination because the pilot failed to visually check the fuel
tanks before takeoff.41 There, the NTSB found that the pilot’s
inadvertence was partly justified by reliance on circumstances
that were reasonably assumed to be unchanged.42 Similarly,
Boeta relied on his assumption that the authorization was still
valid because he had not been told otherwise.43 For these reasons, the majority found, Boeta’s actions were inadvertent,
which satisfied the requirements of the waiver-of-sanctions defense under the ASR procedure.44
Writing in dissent, Judge Stephen A. Higginson believed that
all three issues should have been affirmed on appeal.45 Judge
Higginson found that the NTSB’s holdings were not arbitrary or
capricious and were consistent with the record, and he found
specifically that Boeta’s actions were not inadvertent.46 He
turned to a Ninth Circuit case that was acknowledged, but not
relied on, by the majority that defined an “inadvertent” act as
one “that is not the result of a purposeful choice.”47 Judge Hig37 Id. at 644–45; see, e.g., 14 C.F.R. §§ 91.9(b), 91.103, 91.203, 91.503 (2016);
FED. AVIATION ADMIN., ADVISORY CIRCULAR NO. 91-85, AUTHORIZATION OF AIRCRAFT AND OPERATORS FOR FLIGHT IN REDUCED VERTICAL SEPARATION MINIMUM
AIRSPACE App. 4, p. 1 (2009).
38 Boeta, 831 F.3d at 644–45; see 14 C.F.R. § 119.43(c) (2016).
39 Boeta, 831 F.3d at 645–46.
40 Id. at 646.
41 Garvey v. Meacham, Order No. EA-4633 Docket SE-19922, 1998 NTSB
LEXIS 16, at *1 (Feb. 5, 1998).
42 Boeta, 831 F.3d at 647; Meacham, 1998 NTSB Lexis 16, at *1.
43 Boeta, 831 F.3d at 647.
44 Id.
45 Id. at 648 (Higginson, J., dissenting).
46 Id.
47 Ferguson v. Nat’l Transp. Safety Bd., 678 F.2d 821, 828 (9th Cir. 1982).
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ginson emphasized that the ALJ saw three days of testimony and
made factual determinations that should not be changed on appeal because they were supported by a reasonable reading of the
record, which satisfied the substantial evidence standard.48 One
such determination was that Boeta purposefully chose not to
check the operator’s RVSM authorization before takeoff and
therefore did not act inadvertently.49 The ALJ found that Boeta
had knowledge that USAC did not operate the flight in question
and that Capital had in fact been operating all flights for several
months.50 Taking these finding as true, Judge Higginson stated
that the NTSB’s affirmation of the ALJ was neither arbitrary nor
capricious and that the waiver-of-sanctions defense was not available to Boeta.51
While the majority’s decision to reverse part of the NTSB’s
holding is theoretically within its power, it failed to produce “uncontrovertible documentary evidence or physical fact [that] contradicts” the holding.52 Instead, the majority reversed on the
issue because it disagreed with the results, not because the results were unsupported by the record evidence. In doing so, the
majority side-stepped the deferential standard of review to reach
what is presumably the desired end, although the true motives
remain unknown. In the process, the majority created its own,
new test, leaving the standard by which “inadvertence” should
be measured clouded.
The majority cited the Ninth Circuit’s Ferguson v. NTSB definition of inadvertent53—“that an inadvertent act is one that is not
the result of a purposeful choice”54—but only the dissent applied it to the facts.55 The majority combined that definition
with dictionary definitions to create its own test, which resulted
in a deeply fact-intensive determination that is dependent on
“surrounding circumstances.”56 That disjointed and hazy rule offers no guidance in practice. Boeta’s decision not to check the
authorization when he had good reason to be suspicious, as the
48 Boeta, 831 F.3d at 648–49 (Higginson, J., dissenting); see Ellis v. Liberty Life
Assurance Co. of Bos., 394 F.3d 262, 273 (5th Cir. 2004).
49 Boeta, 831 F.3d at 649 (Higginson, J., dissenting).
50 Id. at 650–51.
51 Id. at 651.
52 Miranda v. Nat’l Transp. Safety Bd., 866 F.2d 805, 807 (5th Cir. 1989).
53 Boeta, 831 F.3d at 643 (majority opinion).
54 Ferguson v. Nat’l Transp. Safety Bd., 678 F.2d 821, 828 (9th Cir. 1982).
55 Boeta, 831 F.3d at 650 (Higginson, J., dissenting).
56 See id. at 642–44 (majority opinion).
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majority conceded he had, constitutes a purposeful choice.57
The NTSB used the Ferguson test, but the majority claimed because it “did not consider any other surrounding circumstances,” the NTSB could not properly find inadvertence.58 But
this “surrounding circumstances” test does not meet the “documentary evidence” or “physical fact” requirement needed to
overturn an NTSB opinion.59 Perhaps the majority’s true motive
was to change the definition of inadvertent. Even so, the majority did not succeed in redefining inadvertent; the majority instead created a new test that only muddied the otherwise useful
Ferguson definition.
Applying the majority’s new test, Boeta’s surrounding circumstances boiled down to whether the two duties placed on him by
the ALJ and the NTSB were proper.60 The majority is correct
that these duties do not appear in the regulations, and perhaps
another possible true motive was avoiding the judicial imposition of those duties. If so, the majority successfully met this
end.61 It used the Meacham case to show how surrounding circumstances can lead to inadvertent actions.62 But, Meacham is
not an apt comparison, as Judge Higginson points out in his
dissent.63 There, the pilot was the last person to refuel and fly
the plane; he knew both how long it had been flown and how
many gallons of fuel it used in flight.64 His reliance on this information gained through personal experience was not subject to
the “red flags found to exist in Boeta’s case.”65 Boeta had reason
to check on the authorization status because, as the ALJ found,
he was aware that USAC did not operate the relevant flight, that
USAC had not operated a flight in the preceding six months,
that Capital did not have RVSM authorization, and that he
could only fly in RVSM airspace if USAC was the operator.66
Analogous warning signs were not available in Meacham. That
pilot’s actions were deemed to be inadvertent under an exId. at 646.
Id. at 644.
59 Miranda v. Nat’l Transp. Safety Bd., 866 F.2d 805, 807 (5th Cir. 1989).
60 See Boeta, 831 F.3d at 644.
61 Id. at 644–45.
62 Id. at 646–47.
63 Id. at 650 (Higginson, J., dissenting).
64 Garvey v. Meacham, Order No. EA-4633 Docket SE-19922, 1998 NTSB
LEXIS 16, at *1 (Feb. 5, 1998).
65 Boeta, 831 F.3d at 650–51 (Higginson, J., dissenting).
66 Id.
57
58
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panded Ferguson definition that is more similar to the majority’s
new test (though the majority here failed to point that out).67
In Meacham, the NTSB defined inadvertence as “not merely
the result of any purposeful choice. Conduct for which waiver of
sanction will not be granted is that which ‘approaches deliberate
or intentional conduct in the sense of reflecting a wanton disregard for the safety of others.’ ”68 Under that test, Boeta’s inaction does seem inadvertent. Yet instead of relying on that
comparison, the majority insists that Boeta’s reliance on what he
thought were unchanged circumstances mandates the same outcome as in Meacham.69 To summarize the majority’s stated motive for the decision: Boeta reasonably relied on the operator to
update his knowledge of the authorization, which was a sufficient surrounding circumstance to make his inaction
inadvertent.70
The problem with the majority’s reasoning comes in the form
of the standard of review. If the majority hid its true motives
because those motives did not satisfy the highly deferential standard, the stated motive similarly fails. The dissent is correct in
that “the NTSB’s rulings [are not] arbitrary and capricious and
[the] factual findings are consistent with the record.”71 The majority should have come out and stated what it really wanted,
whether it was to refuse judicially imposing the NTSB’s duties
on pilots, to adopt a new definition of inadvertent, or even to
create a fairer outcome for a pilot caught between two companies. As it is, the opinion does not establish a clear test for future
plaintiffs to know, or plaintiffs’ attorneys to counsel their clients
on, whether they satisfy the waiver-of-sanctions defense.
In this case, a pilot conducted a flight in RVSM airspace without the proper paperwork. The FAA, ALJ, and NTSB held that
his actions were not inadvertent, thus precluding him from using the waiver-of-sanctions defense.72 On appeal, the Fifth Circuit reversed and declared his actions to be inadvertent, which
opened the defense to him. The Fifth Circuit took the Ferguson
Meacham, 1998 NTSB Lexis 16, at *2 (1998).
Id. (quoting Ferguson v. Nat’l Transp. Safety Bd., 678 F.2d 821, 828 (9th Cir.
1982)).
69 Boeta, 831 F.3d at 647 (majority opinion).
70 Id.
71 Id. at 648 (Higginson, J., dissenting).
72 FED. AVIATION ADMIN., ADVISORY CIRCULAR NO. 00-46E, AVIATION SAFETY REPORTING PROGRAM (2011).
67
68
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definition used by the NTSB73 and clouded it in a quest to overturn the previous holdings under a highly deferential standard
of review. The resultant degradation of the standard of review,
coupled with a new, fuzzy definition, places future use of the
defense into question. The purpose of the ASR program is to
encourage airline personnel to self-report problems they encounter.74 This new cloud of uncertainty may put more people
at risk of litigation and may end up discouraging disclosure.
Such an outcome would be contrary to the FAA’s stated objective and has broad implications in an area of complex and important regulation.
Boeta, 831 F.3d at 643 (majority opinion); Ferguson v. Nat’l Transp. Safety
Bd., 678 F.2d 821, 828 (9th Cir. 1982).
74 FED. AVIATION ADMIN., ADVISORY CIRCULAR NO. 00-46E, AVIATION SAFETY REPORTING PROGRAM (2011).
73

